IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EVERETT BOYD

APPELLANT

v.

No. 2006-KA-00562-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT EVERETT BOYD

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HOLMES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Bernard C. Jones, Jr.
Miss. Bar. No.
102 Woodrow Wilson Avenue
Post Office Box 11325
Jackson, Mississippi 39283-1325
Telephone: (601) 969-5703
Facsimile: (601) 948-0788

Laura Skeen Kuns Miss. Bar No. 119 Trace Ridge Drive Ridgeland, Mississippi 39157 Telephone: (601) 201-7063

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EVERETT BOYD

APPELLANT

v.

No. 2006-KA-00562-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. BOYD'S CONVICTION VIOLATES THE FIFTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- II. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF SHOOTING INTO AN OCCUPIED DWELLING.
- III. BOYD'S CONVICTION IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT AND SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE.
 - A. THE STATE NEVER PLACED THE CALIBER OF WEAPON THAT DELIVERED THE FATAL SHOT IN BOYD'S POSSESSION.
 - B. BOYD COULD NOT HAVE DELIVERED THE FATAL SHOT WHILE SITTING IN A VEHICLE.
- IV. THE PROSECUTOR INVENTED FACTS NOT IN EVIDENCE DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT WHICH UNJUSTLY PREJUDICED BOYD.
- V. THE CUMULATION OF ERRORS IN THIS CASE REQUIRES REVERSAL OF BOYD'S CONVICTION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Course of Proceedings in the Lower Court</u>

On or about July 6, 2004, the appellant, Everett Boyd was indicted by a Holmes County Grand Jury on one count of murder while engaged in the crime of drive-by shooting. (C.P. at 5). The second count of the indictment charged Everett Boyd with the crime of shooting into an occupied dwelling. *Id.* Everett Boyd was arraigned on September 27, 2004. (C.P. at 9).

A jury trial began on February 24, 2006. (Tr. at 1). On February 25, 2006, after only twenty-four minutes of "deliberation," the jury returned a verdict finding Everett Boyd guilty as to both counts of the indictment. (C.P. at 51-52). Directly after the jury verdict was read, the trial judge sentenced Everett Boyd to life imprisonment. (Tr. at 298). On March 9, 2006, the trial court entered an order sentencing Everett Boyd to life in prison as to count one of the indictment and to ten years imprisonment as to count two of the indictment. (C.P. at 56). The appellant's post-trial motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, or for a new trial, was denied by the trial court on March 9, 2006. *Id.* On March 30, 2006, Everett Boyd filed his Notice of Appeal to this Honorable Court. (C.P. at 60).

B. Statement of the Facts

On May 1, 2004, Boyd was out driving with his friend Michael O'Neal [hereinafter O'Neal], and two acquaintances L.C. Gibson [hereinafter Gibson] and Charles Adams [hereinafter Adams]. (Tr. at 193). After driving around, the four went to Boyd's home to get their vehicles to go home. *Id.* While at Boyd's home, O'Neal fired shots from his .45 caliber handgun into the air. *Id.* O'Neal left for home and Boyd, Gibson, and Adams followed in Boyd's vehicle to make sure O'Neal made it home fine (testimony introduced at trial showed that

O'Neal was extremely intoxicated). (Tr. at 44, 171). Later that night, O'Neal was shot and killed by a .45 caliber handgun. (Tr. at 42-43).

During trial, Glenda Hoover [hereinafter Hoover], O'Neal's girlfriend, testified that on the night of May 1, 2004, O'Neal came home and soon thereafter, they heard a vehicle drive up and O'Neal went outside. (Tr. at 74-75). Hoover testified, without objection, that she "heard" Boyd outside her home over the television but did not "see" him. (Tr. at 75). Hoover then testified that she heard gunshots and one of the bullets entered through her window. (Tr. at 76, 87, 97, 100). No other bullets entered the home according to Hoover. (Tr. at 100, 102, 103). After trying to resuscitate O'Neal, an ambulance came and took O'Neal to the hospital. (Tr. at 79). O'Neal died later that night at the hospital. (Tr. at 79).

Hoover testified that the sheriff's department came into her home and searched the premises, but no bullets were found. (Tr. at 230). According to Hoover's testimony, two days after the incident, she found a .45 caliber bullet that was below a window in shattered glass. (Tr. at 89, 91). Hoover was the individual that retrieved the .45 caliber bullet and took it to the sheriff's department. (Tr. at 89, 91).

John Pilgrim [hereinafter Pilgrim], O'Neal's father, testified that on the evening in question, he found his son's .45 caliber handgun on the front seat of his son's vehicle. (Tr. at 117). The vehicle was right by O'Neal's body after the shooting. *Id.* Seemingly ignored is the conflicting testimony of Hoover in which she testified that the decedent's .45 was found under her car. (Tr. at 93). Pilgrim testified that after retrieving the gun from the front seat, he gave it to Glen Brown [hereinafter Brown] the next morning. (Tr. at 117). Brown is Hoover's father. (Tr. at 82).

Brown testified at trial that Pilgrim gave him O'Neal's .45 caliber handgun the day after the shooting. (Tr. at 127). O'Neal's gun on the morning after the shooting did not have any bullets in the chamber. (Tr. at 127). Not developed was the that fact that the family did not turn in the weapon to the police when directly questioned about weapons.

Brown testified that he knew O'Neal owned that gun. (Tr. at 127). Brown took the weapon to the sheriff's department which was later introduced as State's evidence S-7. (Tr. at 118, 127).

The State Medical Examiner, Steven Hayne [hereinafter Hayne], testified that the bullet that shot and killed O'Neal was consistent with a .45 caliber handgun. (Tr. at 39). When asked if the wound O'Neal received was not consistent with someone who shot in the air, Hayne answered in the affirmative. (Tr. at 45-46). Rather, the trajectory was from someone who was shooting straight. *See also* State's Exh. 5 at 16.

When originally questioned, the two other individuals in Boyd's vehicle that evening, Gibson and Adams, gave statements that they were too intoxicated that evening and did not hear or see Boyd shooting a gun. (Tr. at 179, 199). However, as is often the case when faced with their own prosecution, Gibson and Adams changed their stories. (Tr. at 176, 200). See also State's Exh. 15 at 48.

Adams testified that on the evening of May 1, 2004, he, Boyd, and Gibson followed O'Neal back to his house to make sure he arrived safely. (Tr. at 171). Adams testified that Boyd got out of the vehicle to talk to O'Neal, but Adams could not hear what was being said. (Tr. at 171). Gibson and Adams testified that Boyd got back into the vehicle and shot out the vehicle's

window up in the air. (Tr. at 172, 196). Gibson testified that Boyd put the weapon back under the front seat. (Tr. at 196).

The conflict between Hayne's testimony and Adams and Gibson's would seem to confirm that O'Neal could not have been wounded by the shot from Boyd's gun. Moreover, the only witnesses to the crime testified that Boyd shot in the air and Gibson testified that Boyd put the gun under the driver's front seat. When Boyd's vehicle was searched, a 9 mm weapon was found right under the front seat where Gibson said it would be found.

Holmes County Sheriff's Department Officer Sam Chambers [hereinafter Chambers] was the lead investigator for this case. Chamber's testimony of his memory of the night of the decedent's death raised numerous questions about the thoroughness of the investigation. (Tr. at 229). Even though this investigator had over ten years experience, there were no pictures taken of the crime scene as he believed his deputies had taken the pictures. *Id.* His written report did not have anything about shattered glass, and he testified that he did not find a .45 bullet that went though the window even though he "called myself doing it." (Tr. at 231, 239). He did not find any shell casings. *Id.* Chambers testified that even though Boyd came to the station only a few hours after the incident, no gunshot residue tests were performed on his hands. (Tr. at 232).

Chambers testified that he found no evidence that Boyd committed the crime, and he only looked at Boyd for the crime because Hoover told him to. (Tr. at 240). The officer did no sort of investigation with regard to the .45 turned in by the family the day after the incident. (Tr. at 237). According to the State, the bullet found by Hoover was the one that killed O'Neal, although no test was performed to confirm this assertion. (Tr. at 268). The .45 caliber bullet passed through O'Neal and through a window. (Tr. at 268).

During trial, Chambers testified that a .45 caliber handgun was never traced back to the defendant, Boyd. (Tr. at 196). He also testified that he found no evidence of a shooting. *Id*.

After deliberating only twenty-four minutes on Saturday, February 25, 2006, the jury found Boyd guilty of murder under Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-3-19(1)(c) and willfully shooting into an occupied dwelling as charged in the second count of the indictment.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Everett Boyd's conviction of murder violates the double jeopardy clause of the United States Constitution which prohibits multiple punishments for the same offense. Our drive-by shooting statute proposes to criminalize a course of conduct, gang related violence, rather than a discrete act, and therefore multiple convictions arising out of a single shooting event is a double jeopardy violation.

The State in its prosecution of Boyd failed to prove an essential element of the crime of shooting into an occupied dwelling. The State failed to prove a willful shooting into a dwelling, in fact, there was absolutely no evidence entered by the State of this required element. Rather, if there was a bullet that entered the home that night, the State proved that the shooting was accidental as the State suggested that the bullet went through the decedent first. Because this required element was absent, Boyd's conviction should be reversed.

The minuscule evidence introduced at trial was woefully insufficient to convict Boyd and the evidence overwhelmingly weighed against a conviction; therefore, to let his conviction stand would be sanctioning an unconscionable injustice. There are several factors in this case which clearly show that the evidence was insufficient and that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. First, the State of Mississippi put forth ample evidence that the weapon that killed O'Neal was a .45; however, the State never put a .45 caliber handgun in Boyd's hands or possession. Second, the evidence adduced at trial, through the State's own expert witness, clearly showed that Boyd could not have rendered the fatal shot while sitting in a vehicle, rather it was delivered by someone standing.

The State is afforded a wide latitude in arguing their cases to the jury and the purpose of closing argument is to sum up the evidence. The State cannot, however, make up facts that were not introduced at trial. In Boyd's case, the fiction the State wove in its closing argument had no basis in evidence or facts given during trial. This closing argument was so prejudicial that it affected Boyd's fundamental right to a fair trial.

Even though Boyd asserts that every issue above is reversible error, if this Court is not convinced, than the cumulation of errors clearly deprived him of a fair and just trial. The cumulation of errors requires reversal of Boyd's conviction.

ARGUMENT

I.

BOYD'S CONVICTION VIOLATES THE FIFTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Boyd's conviction violates the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution's double jeopardy clause because he was punished multiple times pursuant to the state's drive-by shooting statute for engaging in a single distinct event. The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution was adopted on December 15, 1791, and the double jeopardy clause protects an individual against being subjected to double punishment, inasmuch as it is also is a guaranty against being twice put to trial for the same offense. The Fifth Amendment states in part, "nor shall any person be subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb"

The prohibition against double jeopardy has been called "the most ancient" of all Bill of Rights protections and its roots have been traced back to Greek and Roman law. Peter Western and Richard Drubel, Toward a General Theory of Double Jeopardy, Sup. Ct. Rev. 81 (1978).

The double jeopardy clauses of the United States Constitution and the Mississippi Constitution protect an accused against suffering multiple punishments for the same offense.

U.S. Const. amend.V; Miss. Const. § 22. See also Jones v. Thomas, 491 U.S. 376, 381 (1989); Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299, 303 (1932); Barnette v. State, 478 So. 2d 800, 802 (Miss. 1985). The multiple punishment prong of the double jeopardy clause clearly limits excessive prosecutorial discretion in charging individuals. However, this historical significance was lost in Boyd's case. Boyd was punished multiple times for one supposed offense.

The indictment under which Boyd was charged clearly violates the protection afforded by the double jeopardy clause. At the outset it must be noted that the record does not reflect

whether Boyd's trial counsel moved to quash the indictment. A party waives an objection to the form of the indictment by not objecting in a timely manner. "All indictments may be amended as to form[,] but not as to the substance of the offense charged." *Potts v. State*, 755 So. 2d 521, 523 (¶7) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) (citing Unif. R. Cir. Co. Ct. 7.09). However, "this Court has squarely held that challenges to the substantive sufficiency of an indictment are not waiveable." *State v. Berryhill*, 703 So. 2d 250, 254 (¶16) (Miss. 1997) (citing *Copeland v. State*, 423 So. 2d 1333 (Miss. 1982); *Burchfield v. State*, 277 So. 2d 623 (Miss. 1973); *Monk v. State*, 532 So. 2d 592 (Miss. 1988)). Therefore, a challenge to substantive sufficiency of the indictment "may be raised at anytime, including on appeal." *Id*.

The Mississippi Code Section under which Boyd was indicted and found in the first count is identical to the capital murder section in which a person can be put to death, but with the underlying felonies being those in which the legislature has determined to be less heinous than the underlying felonies found in the capital murder section. Boyd's indictment in part read:

EVERETT BOYD, did, on or about the 02nd day of May, 2004, in Holmes County, Mississippi, unlawfully, willfully, feloniously, and without authority of law, without any design to effect death, kill and murder Michael O'Neal, a human being, which the said EVERETT BOYD was engaged in the commission of the crime of Drive By Shooting, in violation of Section 97-3-109(1) of the Mississippi Code of 1972, and all being in violation of Section 97-3-19(1)(c) of the Mississippi Code of 1972....

(C.P. at 5).

While discussing the identical capital murder section, this Court stated that, "murder, as defined by statute, contemplates the interrelated commission of two separate felonies"

Berryhill, 703 So. 2d at 255 (¶ 21) (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Further the Court of Appeals found that the "murder that this indictment charged was the form that requires that the

death occur while a <u>different, underlying felony</u> was being committed." *Buckley v. State*, 875 So. 2d 1110, 1112-13 (¶ 13) (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-19(2)(e)) (emphasis added). Courts may not impose for one *de jure* offense more than the one lawfully prescribed punishment. *See N.C. v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717 (1969); *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 303 (1932).

"Felony murder . . . requires by definition two felonies to be involved, the homicide being the intentional or unintentional product of the other felony. . . ." Buckley, 875 So. 2d at 1113 (¶
13). For the indictment to be valid, "the indictment needed to set out a valid charge of two felonies" Id.

Our system does not measure the gravity of a felony by the position of the alleged defendant. We do not have "stand up" shooting, "standing by a tree" shooting, or "sitting down" shooting. These are all absurd. Our legislature clearly was reacting to rising gang violence and enacted the drive-by shooting statute to deter such activity.

This Court's objective in interpreting a statute is to give effect to the legislature's intent.

Clearly, the legislature was not dictating that a felony could be predicated upon the physical positioning of the defendant, but rather, the legislature intended to punish the inherently dangerous conduct of gang related drive-by shootings.

This was not a gang related drive-by shooting. When applying the principles of statutory construction in discerning the legislature's intent, clearly the facts in this case are inapplicable. The United States Supreme Court stated that "there can be but one penalty" when a statute criminalizes a course of action rather than an individual act. *Blockburger*, 284 U.S. at 302. The Mississippi legislature proposes to criminalize a course of conduct, not a discrete act, when it

promulgated the state's drive-by shooting statute. Therefore, the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution compels the conclusion that Boyd's conviction of two felonies for a single shooting event subjected him to double jeopardy.

II.

THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE AN ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF SHOOTING INTO AN OCCUPIED DWELLING.

Because the State failed to prove an essential element of the crime of shooting into an occupied dwelling, Boyd's conviction of this crime should be reversed. If one believes the facts as they were presented by the State, the bullet that came from Boyd's gun first went through O'Neal's body then it entered the dwelling. The elements of shooting into an occupied dwelling in Mississippi are found in Mississippi Code Annotated § 97-37-29 (Rev. 2000), "[i]f any person shall willfully and unlawfully shoot . . . a pistol . . . into any dwelling house, . . . he shall be guilty of a felony "Id. (emphasis added). During the prosecutor's closing argument, he stated that the bullet found just inside the house landed there because it hit the victim before hitting the house; therefore, because it hit the victim first, it slowed down, lost velocity, and landed beneath the broken window. There was some testimony presented about another bullet hole in the decedent's home. Chambers testified that he saw the hole, but he did not "see any lead." (Tr. at 229). Hoover numerous times testified that she was unaware of any other bullet entering her home. (Tr. at 100, 102, 103, 106). Clearly, the State could not rely on this "hole" as the bullet to convict Boyd of shooting into an occupied dwelling as the State never put on any evidence that this "hole" actually contained a bullet, let alone a .45 caliber bullet. (Tr. at 233, 238-39). Chambers further testified that his search returned no evidence of shooting at all. (Tr. at 232-33).

Since the bullet hit the victim first, it clearly does not meet the elements set forth by statute. The statute requires that for the crime of shooting into an occupied dwelling to have been met there must be a WILLFUL shooting into a dwelling. An accidental shooting does not meet the statutory requirements. There were no facts entered by the prosecution that the defendant shot into a dwelling at all, let alone willfully, Boyd's conviction of shooting into an occupied dwelling should be overturned.

III.

BOYD'S CONVICTION IS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT AND SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE.

The trial judge failed to prevent a miscarriage of justice when she overruled Boyd's motions for a directed verdict, for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and new trial. A motion for a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and a motion for a directed verdict attack the legal sufficiency of the evidence. *Bush v. State*, 895 So. 2d 836, 843 (¶¶ 16) (Miss. 2005). A motion for a new trial asks the Court to determine if the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Id.* at 844 (¶ 18).

When determining whether the evidence is sufficient to support a conviction, "the critical inquiry is whether the evidence shows 'beyond a reasonable doubt that [the] accused committed the act charged, and that he did so under such circumstances that every element of the offense existed." *Id.* at 843 (¶ 16) (quoting *Carr v. State*, 208 So. 2d 886, 889 (Miss. 1968)). "[W]hen the facts and inferences 'point in favor of the defendant on any element of the offenses with the sufficient force that reasonable [jurors] could not have found beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant was guilty" the proper remedy is for this Court to reverse and render. *Dilworth v.*

State, 909 So. 2d 731, 736 (¶ 17) (Miss. 2005) (citation omitted). Stated more plainly, the standard is whether, if believed, the State's case is/was sufficient.

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