IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

EVERETT BOYD

APPELLANT

NO. 2006-KA-0562-SCT

FILED

VS.

AUG 3 1 2007

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

A reasonable and fair-minded juror could have found from all the evidence that McNeal was shot in the chest either intentionally or by accident when Boyd shot into the dwelling house occupied by Hoover. While Boyd claims he could not have delivered the fatal shot while seated inside a vehicle, there is nothing in the law of physics that would create a reasonable doubt as to the identity of the shooter. Obviously, a bullet struck O'Neal, who was "somewhere above the shooter" (R. 46), and it may well have entered the dwelling house after passing through his body. Of course, two shots were fired. A fair-minded juror could have found that one bullet struck and killed O'Neal, and either the same bullet or the other one, or both, entered the dwelling house occupied by Hoover.

While there was no direct evidence placing a .45 in Boyd's hands, a reasonable and fair-minded jury could have found from all the evidence that O'Neal was shot with a .45. Boyd admits as much in his brief at page 7 where he states that the prosecution "... put forth ample evidence that the weapon that killed O'Neal was a .45. . . ."

According to both Adams and Gibson, it was Boyd who was doing all the shooting at the home of McNeal. A logical inference from all the evidence in the case is that Boyd used a .45 to fire the shots that struck O'Neal and entered Hoover's dwelling house. This is especially true where, as

here, Boyd told Deputy Chambers and Chief Deputy Roosevelt March in his pretrial statement that O'Neal shot himself with "maybe a 45." We quote:

CHISOLM: What kind of gun did Mike [O'Neal] have?

ANSWER: I'm not sure. It's black. Look like maybe a nine or 380. Maybe a 45. I don't know bout that big. He had it in his right hip when he shot. After he had shot he stuck it back right here. Got in his car. He shot like three times in the air before he left my house. I wasn't mad at him. * * *

The great weight of the testimony, on the other hand, reflects that O'Neal's gun, exhibit S-7, was a 9 mm and not a .45. (R. 56-57, 116-17, 118)

It is enough to say that the testimony of Adams and Gibson, if true, was sufficient, standing alone, to prove Boyd's identity as the shooter. Their testimony was both substantial and credible and, if believed, carried sufficient weight to support Boyd's convictions. **McNeal v. State**, 405 So.2d 90 (Miss. 1981); **Burks v. State**, 770 So.2d 960 (Miss. 2000); **Brooks v. State**, 52 So.2d 609 (Miss. 1951).

Boyd laments the State never tested for gun powder residue, never tested the decedent's gun and never did this and that. (Brief of Appellant at 14-15)

No matter.

The jury received jury instruction 8 (D-1) concerning its duty with regard to the "believability" of the witnesses. (C.P. at 40) It also received jury instruction 9 (D-2) dealing with prior inconsistent statements. (C.P. at 41) The jury obviously resolved these questions adversely to Boyd. This Court "... is bound by the jury findings upon an issue presented by the instruction requested by appellant." **Kinney v. State**, 336 So.2d 493, 496 (Miss. 1976).

Lest we forget, "[t]he jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory and sincerity."

Jones v. State, 381 So.2d 983, 989 (Miss. 1980). See also Blocker v. State, 809 So.2d 640, 645 (Miss. 2002), para. 18 ["(I)t is up to the jury to weigh any inconsistencies or contradictions in [a witnesses] testimony"; Greer v. State, 819 So.2d 1 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000), reh denied.

The standards of review for weight and sufficiency of the evidence are fully articulated in Chambliss v. State, 919 So.2d 30, 33-34 (¶¶ 10-16 (Miss. 2005), citing Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005). The evidence in this case passes the tests with flying colors.

"Weight" implicates the denial of a motion for a new trial while "sufficiency" implicates the denial of motions for directed verdict, peremptory instruction, and judgment notwithstanding the verdict. May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

"[A] greater quantum of evidence is necessary for the State to withstand a challenge that the verdict is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, as distinguished from the legal sufficiency of the evidence argument." Collier v. State, 711 So.2d at 458, 462 (Miss. 1998).

Stated somewhat differently, "[a] greater quantum of evidence favoring the State is necessary for the State to withstand a motion for a new trial, as distinguished from a motion for j.n.o.v." May v. State, supra, 460 So.2d 778, 781 (Miss. 1984).

"If the evidence is found to be legally insufficient, then discharge of the defendant is proper."

Collier v. State, supra, 711 So.2d 458, 461 (Miss. 1998) citing May v. State, 460 So.2d 778. 781 (Miss. 1985).

On the other hand, "... if the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, then a new trial is proper." Collier v. State, supra, 711 So.2d 458, 461 (Miss. 1998) citing May v. State, 460 So.2d 778, 781-82 (Miss. 1985).

In other words, the remedy for a defect in "weight" is a new trial while the remedy for a

defect in "sufficiency" is final discharge from custody.

Our response to Boyd's sufficiency argument is summarized in only three words: Classic jury issue. It is clear that "... after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime(s) beyond a reasonable doubt." **Bush v. State,** supra, 895 So.2d at 843, quoting **Jackson v. Virginia**, 443 U.S. 307, 315, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). Stated differently "... reasonable fair-minded men in the exercise of impartial judgment might reach different conclusions on every element of the offense(s)." **Chambliss v. State,** supra, 919 So.2d 30, 34 (Miss. 2005).

Where, as here, the target of the defendant's complaint is also the "weight" of the evidence, as opposed to its "legal sufficiency," such implicates the denial of a motion for a new trial.

"The motion for a new trial is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court." **Burge** v. State, 472 So.2d 392, 397 (Miss. 1985). This Court reviews the trial court's denial of a post-trial motion under the abuse of discretion standard. **Flowers v. State**, 601 So.2d 828, 833 (Miss. 1992); **Robinson v. State**, 566 So.2d 1240, 1242 (Miss. 1990). No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here.

"[T]he scope of review on this issue is limited in that all evidence must be construed in the light most favorable to the verdict." Herring v. State, 691 So.2d at 957 citing Goff v. State, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss. 1990). In a motion for a new trial, all facts are construed in favor of the non-moving party. Staten v. State, 813 So.2d 775 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

This includes the identification testimony of Adams and Gibson which clearly outweighed the defendant's evidence in this case which was nil, i.e., nada. Quite obviously, the evidence does not preponderate in Boyd's favor.

It has been said the testimony by the State's witnesses may be given full effect by the jury where, as here, an accused does not take the witness stand. Reeves v. State, 159 Miss. 498, 132 So. 331 (1931). Stated differently, "[t]he prohibition against adverse comment and inference does not protect a defendant from the probative force of the evidence against him." Tuttle v. State, 174 So.2d 345 (Miss. 1965).

In **Rush v. State**, 301 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1974), we find these words applicable to this observation.

While it is the right and privilege of a defendant to refrain from taking the witness stand, and no presumption is to be indulged against him for exercising that right, still the testimony of the witnesses against him may be given full effect by the jury, and the jury is likely to do so where it is undisputed and the defendant has refused to explain or deny the accusation against him. Reeves v. State, 159 Miss. 498, 132 So. 331 (1931). * * * * * *

See also Grant v. State, 762 So.2d 800, 804 (Ct.App.Ms. 2000) ["We note that Grant presented no evidence which leaves the jury free to give full effect to the testimony of the State's witnesses.

Benson v. State, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss. 1989)."]

This assigned error - the sufficiency and weight of the evidence - is devoid of merit.

Finally, in Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981), this Court announced that

..... we will not set aside a guilty verdict, absent other error, unless it is clearly a result of prejudice, bias or fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence. [emphasis supplied]

The following observations made in **Groseclose v. State**, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983), are also worth repeating here:

We will not order a new trial unless convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Pearson v. State, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983). Any less stringent rule would denigrate the constitutional power and responsibility

of the jury in our criminal justice system. [emphasis supplied]

In short, this Court will not set aside a guilty verdict unless the verdict is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence [Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981)] and unless this Court is convinced that to allow the verdict to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Hilliard v. State, 749 So.2d 1015, 1016 (Miss. 1999); Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983).

Contrary to Boyd's position (Brief of Appellant at 24-25), the case at bar does not exist in this evidentiary posture.

IV.

CONTEMPORANEOUS OBJECTION TO ALLEGEDLY PREJUDICIAL REMARKS DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT IS REQUIRED ELSE THE OBJECTION IS WAIVED. THE ARGUMENT COMPLAINED ABOUT HERE WAS NOT OBJECTED TO.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN OVERRULING THE DEFENDANT'S LONE OBJECTION TO THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Boyd complains about certain portions of the State's closing argument which he claims ".
.. wove a tale of fiction that contained no evidence or facts given during trial." (Brief of Appellant at 17)

The problem with this argument is that save for one innocuous comment by Mr. Waldrup, none of the remarks complained about, fiction or not, were the target of an objection, contemporaneous or otherwise.

The only objection in the record is found in the following colloquy:

(Mr. Waldrup) * * * I'm going to go through some of the stuff that Mr. Smith told you in his opening (argument).

MR. SMITH: Your Honor, I'm going to object. I'm not required to prove anything in this case.

THE COURT: Overruled. (R. 263)

This lone objection was properly overruled because the remark was completely innocuous. With respect to the remaining portion of the State's rather lengthy closing argument, both argument-in-chief as well as rebuttal, the record, much like the cupboard of ole Mother Hubbard, is bare. (R. 263-78; 285-95)

It is well settled that a contemporaneous objection to allegedly prejudicial remarks of a prosecutor during opening or closing argument or to allegedly prejudicial questions propounded during trial is required in order to preserve these points for appellate scrutiny.

Failure to object operates to procedurally bar appellate review. Rogers v. State, 928 So.2d 831 (Miss. 2006); Havard v. State, 928 So.2d 771 (Miss. 2006), reh denied; Spicer v, State, 921 So.2d 292, as modified on denial of rehearing, cert denied 127 S.Ct. 493; Edwards v. State, 737 So.2d 275 (Miss. 1999); Manning v. State, 735 So.2d 323 (Miss. 1999); Watts v. State, 733 So.2d 214 (Miss. 1999); Weatherspoon v. State, 732 So.2d 158 (Miss. 1999); Skinner v. State, 726 So.2d 272 (Ct. App. Miss. 1998).

"Failure by defense counsel to contemporaneously object to a prosecutor's remark at trial bars consideration of prosecutorial misconduct allegations on appeal." **Brown v. State,** 936 So.2d 447, 453 (Ct.App.Miss. 2006), citing **Davis v. State,** 660 So.2d 1228, 1255 (Miss. 1995).

Stated differently, a contemporaneous objection to allegedly prejudicial remarks by the district attorney is required else the objection is waived. **Handley v. State,** 574 So.2d 671 (Miss. 1990); **Hill v. State,** 432 So.2d 427 (Miss. 1983); **Alford v. State,** 760 So.2d 48 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000); **Swindle v. State,** 755 So.2d 1158 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999) [Defendant waived any challenge to

all but one of the prosecutor's remarks made during closing argument where he failed to make a contemporaneous objection to all but one comment.]

In Hill v. State, supra, 432 So.2d 427, 439 (Miss. 1983), this Court opined:

In this case, however, there was no objection to this argument. We have consistently held that contemporaneous objection must be made to improper argument by the state, and unless such objection is made, any claimed error for such improper argument will not be considered on appeal. [numerous citations omitted]

The absence of a contemporaneous objection to all but one of the allegedly prejudicial comments targeted on appeal is absolutely fatal to Boyd's complaint. **Turner v. State**, 818 So.2d 1181 (Miss. 2002) [By failing to object to the state's closing argument during trial, defendant was precluded from raising any issues concerning the argument for the first time on appeal.]; **Hampton v. State**, 815 So.2d 429 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002) [A contemporaneous objection must be made in order for the Court of Appeals to consider claims of improper or erroneous comments by a prosecuting attorney made during closing argument.]; **Swindle v. State**, *supra*.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-35-143 is precisely in point. It reads, in its pertinent parts, that

[a] judgment in a criminal case shall not be reversed because the transcript of the record does not show a proper organization of the court below or of the grand jury, or where the court was held, or that the prisoner was present in court during the trial or any part of it, or that the court asked him if he had anything to say why judgment should not be pronounced against him upon the verdict, or because of any error or omission in the case in the court below, except where the errors or omission are jurisdictional in their character, unless the record show that the errors complained of were made ground of special exception in that court. [emphasis added]

The underlying bases for the existence of a contemporaneous objection rule are contained in **Oates v. State**, 421 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss. 1982), where we find the following:

There are three basic considerations which underlie the rule

requiring specific objections. It avoids costly new trials. Boring v. State, 253 So.2d 251 (Miss. 1971). It allows the offering party an opportunity to obviate the objection. Heard v. State, 59 Miss. 545 (Miss. 1882). Lastly, a trial court is not put in error unless it had an opportunity to pass on the question. Boutwell v. State, 165 Miss. 16, 143 So. 479 (1932). These rules apply with equal force in the instant case; accordingly, we hold that appellant did not properly preserve the question for appellate review.

In Leverett v. State, 197 So.2d 889, 890 (Miss. 1967), this Court, quoting from Collins v. State, 173 Miss. 179, 180, 159 So. 865 (1935), penned the following language:

The Supreme Court is a court of appeals, it has no original jurisdiction; it can only try questions that have been tried and passed upon by the court from which the appeal is taken. Whatever remedy appellant has is in the trial court, not in this court. This court can only pass on the question after the trial court has done so.

"A trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to him for decision."

Ballenger v. State, 667 So.2d 1242, 1256 (Miss. 1995) citing numerous cases. No violation of fundamental rights is involved here, and the procedural bar/waiver/forfeiture rule is applicable to Everett Boyd.

Counsel invites this Court to invoke "plain" error. (Brief of Appellant at 17) We are not enamored with the so-called "plain error" rule which we have always felt should be something for this Court, in extremely rare cases, to notice and not for the appellant to argue. Allowing an appellant to argue "plain error" on appeal eviscerates the need for a contemporaneous objection rule.

In any event, any error was not so "plain" to trial defense counsel that it generated so much as a contemporaneous whimper. This simply detracts from the validity of Boyd's present complaint. Accordingly, we do not feel compelled to respond to each of Boyd's individual complaints. It is enough to say the remarks and argument complained about were fair and reasonable inferences drawn from the testimony.

The prosecutor's argument was fully supported by reasonable inferences to be drawn from all of the evidence in the case, including the out-of-court statements of the defendant and the testimony of Adams and Gibson, ear and eyewitnesses.

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